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TO: NEW YORK STATE CEMETERY BOARD 

 
FROM:  MICHAEL D. SEELMAN, INVESTIGATOR II 

 
SUBJECT: LAKEWOOD CEMETERY ASSOCIATION, #39-016 
 
RE: HAZARDOUS MONUMENT REPAIR CHECKLIST 

 
DATE: MARCH 20, 2024 

 
 

 
Application completed, notarized and signed 

38 Monuments Requested  

Legal Notice run 3 times in The Daily Star $170.45 

38 Monuments Appear Eligible 

Estimates: Humphrey Memorials repair estimate $89,300 (average $2,350/ monument)  

 McFee Memorials repair estimate $98,650 (average $2,596/monument) 

Both contractors propose 42-inch foundations and offer a 10-year warranty. 

The cemetery is up to date on Annual Reports and Vandalism Payments 

Recommend Approval in the amount of $89,470.45. 
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TO: New York State Cemetery Board 
 
FROM: Michael D. Seelman, Investigator II 
 
SUBJECT:  Lakewood Cemetery Association, #39-016 
 
RE: Application for Repair of Hazardous Monuments 
 
DATE: March 20, 2024 
 
 
Exhibits 
 

A) Application for Repair or Removal of Dilapidated or Disrepaired Monuments that Create a Hazardous 
Condition 

B) Humphrey Memorials repair estimate for $89,300 (average $2,350/ per monument) 
C) McFee Memorials repair estimate for $98,650 (average $2,596/ per monument 
D) Invoices and copies from The Daily Star for $170.45 

 
Introduction and Recommendation 
 
 The Division received an application (Exhibit A) for the repair of 38 hazardous monuments located in 
the Lakewood Cemetery, town of Middlefield, Otsego County.  The application was submitted by Milo Stewart 
Jr., president of the Lakewood Cemetery Association.  Included with this application was an estimate, from 
Humphrey Memorials (Exhibit B) totaling $89,300, and an estimate from McFee Memorials (Exhibit C) totaling 
$98,650.  Also included was an invoice from The Daily Star for a legal notice (Exhibit D) that was run for three 
consecutive weeks from October 11, through October 25, 2023, for $170.45. 
 I recommend approval of this application. 
 
The Monuments 
 
 The Lakewood Cemetery was visited by Investigator Stanton, and 38 monuments were found to be 
either loose on their foundations or tipping and appeared to pose a hazard to cemetery visitors and employees.  
Stewart stated that the cemetery has no records for the monuments in question and as such, could not contact 
the last known lot owners by mail, the most recent monument is dated 1926. The cemetery has had no 
response to the legal advertisements which it placed, and has no funds dedicated to the restoration of 
monuments. Based upon the information provided, it is the Division’s understanding that the cemetery has 
determined that the monument owners cannot be found.   
 
The Estimates   
 
 Both contractors propose to:  remove the monuments from the existing foundations; dig out existing 
foundations; place new foundations made of solid concrete poured to a depth of 42 inches and replace the 
monument, resealing all joints with setting compound or epoxy and offer a ten-year warranty.  It should be 
noted that most of these monuments are very large, and Lakewood Cemetery is difficult to access, this 
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resulted in the price of the estimates being higher than the average cost in the area.  The cemetery provided 
three additional letters from contractors that declined to submit bids. 
   
 
 
Recommendation 

 
The Cemetery is up to date on annual reports and vandalism payments.  This appears to be a 

legitimate claim for $89,470.45.  I recommend that this application be approved. 
 



    
   EXHIBIT A 











 
Mohawk Valley Monuments, LLC 

2270 Broad St. 
Frankfort, NY 13340 

Phone/Fax (315) 724-7629 
MVMonuments@gmail.com 

 
 

 
Lakewood Cemetery Association 
PO Box 1314  
Cooperstown, NY 13326 
ATTN: Merrilyn O’Connell 
 
Merrilyn, 
 
 It was a pleasure to speak with you last week. As requested, I visited the 
cemetery and assessed the work that will need to be done. I regret to inform you 
that at this time we are declining to bid on this repair job. Due to the distance 
from our shop location and the terrain/accessibility at the cemetery this will be 
difficult to complete with our equipment. 
 
I apologize for the inconvenience and I hope you can find an outfit to complete 
the work for you. 
 
 
Thanks, 
 
 
Benjamin Morgan 
Mohawk Valley Monuments, LLC 
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